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JUDGMENT

{11 This is a timely application for leave to appeal from the unanimous judgment of the Fiji

Court of Appeal [Calanchini P, Basnayake JA and Bandars J A dated 14" September 2017,

which dismissed the appeal of the Petitioner filed against his conviction and sentence

imposed by the High Court of Suva on five counts of abuse of office contrary to section

111 of the Penal Code.
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The Petitioner was at all material times a member of the Native Land Trust Board (NLTB),

which has since been renamed as the iTaukei Land Trust Board in terms of the Native Land
Trust (Amendment) Act No. 8 of 2011, and also functioned as a director and Chatrman of
the Vanua Development Corporation Ltd., (VDCL), and a director of Pacific Connex
Limited (PCX).

One Kalivati Bakani (1% Aceused). who was.at the material times the General Manager of
NLTB, and was a director of VDCL and PCX, was charged along with the Petitioner (2™
Accused) on ten counts of abuse of office. Bakani was charged with counts 1, 3,5, 7and 9
and the Petitioner was charged with counts 2, 4. 6, 7 and 10 on the same Amended

information.

Count 2 against the Petitioner reads as follows:

KENI DAKUIDREKET! between about 315t March 2004 snd 215t September 2004, at
Suva in the Central Division, while being employed in the Public Service as the Director
of the Native Fand Trust Board and Chairman of Vanua Development Corporation
Limited, in abuse of the authority of his office, did an arbitrary act for the purpose of
galn, namely, facilitated o loan of $2,000,000.00 FJID to he made by the Vonua
Development Corporation Limited to Pacific Connex Limited, which was prefudicial to

oy

the Native Land Trust Board and indigenous Fijians. (Emphasis aclded)

- The 4" and 10% counts a rainst the Petitioner were also similar worded excent for the
. & ¥ Y

period of offence and the amount of the Joan. Count 4 related to a foan of $900,000.00 TIDH
alleged to have been facilitated between 16™ Novernber 2004 and 29" November 2004, and
count 10 involved a loan of $1,000,000.00 FiD alleged to have been facilitated between
23 September 2005 and 29" September 2005, the recipient of the loans being in all these

instances, the Pacific Connex Limited (PCX).

Counts 6 and 8 differed from counts 2, 4 and 10 since they involved the alleged facilitation
of government grants of $1,000,000,00 FJD each. Count § against the Petitioner reads as

follows:-



KENI DAKUIDREKETI between about 28th February 2005 to 28th April 2005, at
Suva in the Central Division, while being employed in the Public Service as the Director
gj'f‘ the Native Land Trust Board and Chairman of Vanua Development Corporation
Limited, in abuse of the authority of his office, did an arbitrary act for the purpose of
gain, namely, facilitated a Government Grant of $1,000,000.00 FID disbursed to Vanua
Development Corporation [Limited through the Native Land Trust Board 10 be used as
security for a loan provided to PacificConnex Limited by Dominion Finance Company
Limited, which was prejudicial to Native Land Trust Board and indigenous Fijians.
[71 Count 8 was couched in identical terms, except that it involved the facilitation of a
Government grant of $1,000,000.00 FJD disbursed 0 VDCL through the NL'TB to be used
as security for overdraft and loan facilities provided to PCX by the Australia and New

Zealand Banking Group Lid between 27 April 2005 and 3™ July 2007

[8] The charges filed against Kalivati Bakani were substantially similar to those made against
the Petitioner, and they were fried together in the High Court of Suva (Janaka Bandara )

assisted by five assessors,

[91 Al charges against Bakani and.the Petitioner had been framed as alleged violations of the
provisions of section 111 of the Penal Code {(Cap. 17) which reads as follows:-
“Any person who, being employed in the public service, does or directs to be
done, in abuse of the authority of his office, any arbitrary act prejudicial to the
rights of another, is guilty of a misdemeanor. If the act is done or directed to be
done for purpose of gain, he is guilty of a felony, and is liable to imprisonment for
three years,” (emphasis added)
It is noteworthy that section 47 of the Penal Code enacts that where no punishment is

specially provided for any misdemeanor in the said Code, it shall be punishable with

imprisonment for a term not exceeding two years or with a fine or with both

[10] On 23 June 2014, which was the first day of trial, Bakani pleaded guilty to counts 1, 3.5,7

and 9. The “Summary of Facts for the 1st Accused” was read and agreed to by Bakani,
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Thereupon, the trial judge entered convictions against Bakani in respect of each count, and
adjourned his sentencing untl the conclusion of Petitioner’s trial, upon his plea of not

guilty.

The Petitioner’s trial lasted 5 wecks. The High Court heard the testimony of 12
prosecution witnesses, and with the Petitioner’s consent, the statements of 8 prosecution
witnesses and 3 bankers’ affidavits were read and admitted in evidence. In addition, the
prosecution tendered 243 documentary exhibits, The Petitioner did not testify nor call any
defence witmesses. He produced 33 documentary exhibits, Daily transcripts of the
proceedings were prepared and supplied to the judge and the parties. During the trial the
judge ordered breaks for the assessors to have time to read and understand the documentary
exhibits. At the conclusion of the trial the Petitioner and Respondent ;3re]naicd detailed
written closing submissions which were supplied to the trial judge and assessors to assist

them in following the addresses of counsel.

On 1 August 2014 the trial Jjudge delivered his summing-up to the assessors. Later the same
day the assessors found the Petitioner guilty of the misdemeanor of abuse of office in
respect of all five counts on the basis that the prosecution had not established the element
of “gain” to make it a felony, In his Judgement of 6 August 2014 the trial judge overtutned
the assessors’ verdicts on absence of gain, and found the Petitioner guilty and convicted

him of five counts of the felony of abuse of office for fhe purpose of gain,

On 15th August 2014, the trial judge imposed on the Petitioner an aggregate sentence of §
years of impriéﬁnmem with a non-parole period of 5 years with respect to all the five
counts. This aggregate sentence was computed taKing 12 months imprisonment as the head
sentence for each of the counts and adding 12 months to each of the sentence on account of

aggravating factors and deducting 6 months from each of the sentence taking into account

certain mitigating factors. Accordingly, the total of 6 yeats of imprisonment was artived at

by imposing a sentence of 18 months imprisonment on count 2, a sentence of 18 months

imprisonment on count 4, both sentences to be served consecutively, a sentence of 18
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months imprisonment on counts 6 and 8 to run concurrently, and a senience of 18 months

imprisonment on count 10, to be served consecutively,

The Petitioner by his Notice of Appeal dated 19" August 2014 appealed against his
conviction and sentence (o the Court of Appeal. Though the original notice of appeal
contained 28 grounds against conviction and a single ground against the sentence, by the
written submissions tendered on behalf of the Petitioner dated 9™ January 2017, they were

reduced to the following 6 grounds, the last of which relating to the sentence:

(@) The accused was not employed in the public service as a director of
VDCL and so cannot be guilly of the offence of abuse ot office for acting
in that role (Public Service issue).

(b) FICAC did not prove the necessary criminal intent to make his acts
arbitrary as required by the offence {Intent issue).

{¢) FICAC's case that money paid by NLTB to VDCL was NLTB trust
money is wrong. To the contrary it was. paid and received as paid up
capital in VDXCL (VDCL Capital issue),

(d) FICAC did not prove any relevant purpose of gain to PCX as was the
clear view of the Assessors (Gain issue).

(¢} The trial Judge has erred by applying principles relating to the common
law offence of misconduct to publie office when sections 4 and 111 of
the Penal Code do not retlect the language of the common law tests of
public service nor the offence of misconduct in public office (Departure
from Statutory Code issue).

(f) The sentence is based upon wrong prirﬁ:iples (cumulative) and is

excessive (Lxcessive Sentence issue),

By its impugned judgment dated 14" September 2017, the Court of Appeal unanimously
aflirmed the Petitioner’s conviction on all five counts and the sentence imposed on the

Petitioner by the High Court on 15" August 2014,



Application for leave to appeal
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The Supreme Court has been vested with an exclusive Jurisdiction to hear and determine
appeals from all final judgments of the Court of Appeal by section 98(3)(b) of the
Constitution of the Republic of Fiji, Section 98(4) of the said Constitution provides that an
appeal may not be brought to the Supreme Court from a final Judgment of the Court of

Appeal unless the Supreme Court grants leave to appeal.

Itis trite Taw that a petitioner seeking leave to appeal from the i‘i;,epremcE Court should
satisfy the stringent threshold criteria as set out in section 7(2) of the Supreme Court Act,
No. 14 of 1998, As this Court noted in paragraph 35 of its judgment in Bulivow v The State
[2015] FISC 6; CAV0001.2015 (24 April 2013), the parameters of section 7(2) of the
Supreme Court are demarcated by the concepts of “general legal intportance”, “substantial
question.of principle” and “substantial and grave injustice”, which were amply illustrated

in the following dictum of Lord Sumner in Thrahim v Rex {1914} A.C, 599 at page 614:-

“Leave to appeal is not granted “except where some clear departure from the
requirémeénts of justice” exists: Riel v, Reg (1885) 10 App. Case. 673 nor unless
by “a disregard of the forms of legal process”, or by some “violation of the
principles of natural justice or otherwise, substantial and grave injustice has been

. done™ In re Abraham Mallory Ditter (1887) 12 App, Case. 459
In the petition of appeal filed on behalf of the Petitioner, 3 main grounds have been

advanced for seeking leave to appeal, namely-

(a) the Petitioner, as Chairman of the Vanua Development Corporation Limited,
was pot a “person employed in the public service™ when acting in that role”

(Public Service issue);

- (b) The Court of Appeal erred in finding that the Petitioner had committed

arbitrary acts on the basis that the necessary criminal intent was proven by the



Petitioner suppressing information regarding PCX without tegard or reference
to evidence that such information was disclosed (Intent Issue}; and
{c) the sentence against the Petitioner does not properly apply the law and is

excessive (Excessive Sentence Issue).

19} Grounds (a) and (¢) had been taken up by the Petitioner in the Cowrt of Appeal as ground

{2y and (f) and considered by the Court of Appeal. These grounds were evaluated by the
Court of Appeal in the light of the background facts set out in paragraphs 14 to 19 of the
impugned judgment of the Court of Appeal and the facts relating to each count so well
swmmarised by the said Couit in paragraphs 20 to 34 of 18 judgment. However, as regards
ground (b) above, objection has been taken by Mr, Blanchflower on behall of the
Respondent that though a ground described as “intent fssue” was taken up by the Petitioner
and considered by the Court of Appeal as ground (b), the matters raised by the Petitioner
before this Court under ground (b) are entirely different and had not been considered by the
Court of Appeal since the issue was not raised in this form in the lower court, and hence
ground (b) raised before this Cowt is a fresh issue not taken up in the High Court or the

Court of Appeal.

In the circumstances, it is necessary to consider in the first instance the grounds raised by
the Petitioner in his petition to this Court in the fight of the aforesaid threshold criferia to
decide whether leave ought {0 be granted on one or mote of them, In doing so, this Court
will be guided by the following observation of this Court in Aminiasi Katonivualily v State
(2003) FISC Crim. App. No. CAV0001/1999S, (17th April 2003) which has been cited
with approval in subsequent decisions of this Court such as Rera v The Siare {2006) FiSC
4 CAVOOLOUL, 20038 (4th May 2006), Chand v The State (2017) FISCH; CAV14/2010
(9th May 2012) and Wagqabaca v Stare [2016] FISC 11; CAV039.2015 (21 Apiil 2016)-

“It is plain from this provision that the Supreme Court is not « Court of criminal
appeal or general review nor is there an appeal o the Court as a marter of vight
and, whilst we accept in an application for special leave some elaboration on the

grounds of appeal may have to be entertained, the Court is necessarily confined
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within the legal parameters set out above, to an appeal against the Judgment of the
Court of Appeal......"(emphasis added)

o Deve v Fif iji Independent Commission Against Corruption [2017) FISC 16:
CAV0005.2017 (20 July 2017) this Court considered section 7(2) and the relevant

pringipl

es for granting leave to appeal. His Lordship Justice Chandra, in the course of his

judginent with which Mr. Justice Margoof and Madam Justice Ekanayake concurred, cited
with approval the observation in patagraph 6 of the judgment of Chief Justice Ma {(with
which Mr Justice Chan PJ and Mr Justice Ribeiro PJ agreed) in Kosar Makmood v HKSAR,
FAMC No. 31 of 2012 (16" October 2012) to the following effect:

“We wish to stress that in all future applications on the substantial and grave
injustice ground, the application for leave to appeal must identify the specific
way in which it is submitted that the court below has deparied from established
legal Mrm.v; and why such departure is so seriously wrong that justice demand
hearing before the Court of Final Appeal notwithstanding the absence of any real
controversy on any point of law of great and general importance. It will simply
not be sufficient merely to set out the same arguments that were canvassed in the

court below., "(emphasis addecd)

[22] Having reiterating the above passage, His I_Jardship Justice Chandra in paragraph 9 of his

Judgment in Devo v Fiji Independent C{wmmmn Against Corrtiption went on to add that-

“The threshold set by Section 7¢2) i very highunlike in an appeal from the High
Cowrt to the Court of Appeal which is based on whether a ground of appeal is
arguable. An appeal against the judgment of the Court of Appeal to the Supreme
Court must satisfy the threshold for special leave 1o appeal in the first instance.
The grounds of appeal should be in respect of the judgment of the Court of
Appeal “(emphasis added)



[23] It is crucial therefore to examine whether the 3 grounds urged on behalf of the Petitioner

satisfy the stringent criteria set out in section 7(2) of the Supreme Court Act.
The Public Service Issue

[24] The first ground raised by the Petitioner in this application is that he was not 8 “person

employed in tlie public service” within the meaning of section 111 of the Penal Code,

[25] Section 111 of the Penal Code has been fully quoted in paragraph [9] of this judgment, and
it is noteworthy that the phrase “person employed in the public service” has been defined in

section 4 of the Penal Code in the following manner:-

In this Code, unless the context otherwise requires-

“person employed in the public service™ means any person holding any of the
following offices or performing the duty hereof, whether as a deputy or otherwise,

namely-

(i) any civil office including the office of President the power of
appointing a person to which or of removing from which is vested in
the State or inthe Presidens, in a Minister or in any public Commission

ar Board: or

{if) any office to which a person is appointed or nominated under the

provisions of any Act or by election; or

(i) any civil office, the power of appointing to which or removing from
which is vested in any person or persons holding an office of any kind

included in either of paragraphs (i) or {ii); or

(ivjany office of arbitrator or umpire in any proceeding or matter
submitted 1o arbitration by order or with the sanction of any court, or in

pursuance of any Act.



[26] At the hearing of this application before this Ceurt, Mr. Clarke emphasised that the offence

127]

[28]

for which the Petitioner was charged and convicted jnvolved the alleged facilitation of
certain loans and government granis as security for loans advanced to PCX by VDCL of
which he had functioned as Chairman and Director, in the abuse of authority of his office,

thereby committing a arbitrary act for the purpose of gain.

The thrust of Mr. Clarke’s submissions was that the Petitioner is not and was not at any
point, a person employed in the public service, He argued that the “office” of chairman of
the VDCL was not a “civil office” since VDCL was a private company with separate legal
personality from the NL'TB, and that the chairmanship of VDCL was not akin to a public
office. He further argued that the power io appoint the Petitioner as a direcior and as
chaitman was not “vested” in the NLTB. In support of this latter contention, he stressed

four points, namely that-

{i) the NLTB did not have the power to appoint the Chairman and Directors
of VDCL under its Act or in any other law — purporting 1o act as such was
wltrea vires, |
(if) The Interpretation Act makes it clear that the power to appoint is one
that must be granted under a written law;
(i) the articles of association of VDCL, the regulations made under the
Companies Act of 1983 (now repealed) by which VDCL was bound to
operate and regulate- its proceedings and businesses, expressly gave that
power of appointment to the shareholders of VDCL; and

- {iv) the law, not a course of conduct that had no basis in law, must be
applied. The NLTB and Minister for Fijian Affairs arrogated theit power
thereby falling foul of section 4 which requires nothing less than actual and

lawtal power,

Mr. Blanchflower, SC, responding to- the submissions of Mr, Clarke pointed out that the
respective charges on which the Petitioner was convieted, alleged that the Petitioner had

committed offences contrary to section 111 of the Penal Code “while being emploved in

10
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the Public Service™ as a Director of NLTB and Chairman of VDCIL.. l’eii.tionex; was
appointed 10 be a member of NLTB pursuant to section 3(1) of the Native Lands Trust Act
by the Fijian Affairs Board for a term of three years with effect 14 December 2001, which
term was further extended by another 3 years, and hence he held that position until mid-
2007. This was not contested at the rial. Consequently, at all material times covered by

the counts of the Petitioner was a member of the NLTR and a Yperson employed in the.

'pubfic service”, pursuant to section 4 of the Penal Code. He submitted that hence he held a

“civil office™,

As 1o the Petitioner’s position in VDCL, it was the submission of Mr. Blanchflower that the
VDCL was specifically incorporated by NLTB for the purpase of investing funds held by
NLTB in a more productive manner, and that the NLTB appointed the Petitioner as
Chairman of VDCL and Mr. Bakani as a Director of VDCL 1o coordinate its affairs, He
stressed that the definition of the phrase “person employed in the public service™ in section
4 of the Penal Coded would apply to the Petitioner since he held two public of"ﬁc%
simultaneously: (i} member of NLTB; and (i) director and Chairman of VDCL and these
two offices were inextrieably tied together. He submitted that both were “public” or “civil”

offices, notwithstanding the latter was connected to VDL, a limited liability company.

In this context, it is important to note that as far as the appointment of the Petitioner to
NLTB was concerned, no issue was raised by the Petitioner in the courts below as well as
in the Supreme Court in regard to the validity of the said appointment or that the
appointment fell within the ambit of the definition of a “person employed in the public
service”. What was and still is in dispute is whether his appointment as a Director and
Chairman of VDCL, which was made by NLTB, fell within the said definition, and the
qﬁeﬁ;tim} is important in view of the related submission made on behalf of the Petitioner
that the alleged offences with which the Petitioner had been charged involved not NLTB
funds but VDCL funds, and the latter was a private limited liability company not falling

within “public service.”

11



[31] In dealing with this submission, the trial judge in his surnming up as well as his judgment
dated 6" August 2014, drew a distinction between two limbs of the definition found in
scetion 4 of the Penal Code of a “person employed in the public service”. Responding to a
submission made on behalf of the Petitioner thai the articles of VDCL only provided for the
appointment of directors by the existing directors or the shareholders, and that according to
the same articles, only a director may be appointed as Chairman, the learned trial iudge

made the following observation in paragraphs (xii) and (xiii} of the said judgment:-

“(xit) Nevertheless, in terms of Section 4 of the Penal Code definition, “person
employed in the public service™ means, any person holding any of the following

offices or performing the duty hereof.

(xiii) “Following offices” in the first part of the section refers to the appointments.
and/or removals described in (i) (i) (iif) limbs. The defence argument mainly
focuses only only this.aspect. The second part of the introduction, “performing the
daty hereof,” they say does not apply to VDCL. The section eloborates two
distinct steps; holding a public office after been appointed purswant to (i) (i) and
(iii} limbs or performing the duties thereof The mode of "appointment” may
maiter {o the first part, but, whar matters to the second part is the nature of the
duty performed The *Public Office’ can be ‘civil® in accordance with limbs (i)

and (i) or "any .of'ﬁce’ according to limb {it)."(emphasis added)
[32] The trial judge concluded as follows in paragraph (xix) of his judgment:-

“(xix} [n this background, I conclude that irrespective of the mode of appointment,
or appointing body, if any person, whilst holding an office of trust concerning the

“public and performs a duty of public nature, and receives a grant or remuneration
whether directly from the State or otherwise, pursvant to section 4 of the Penal
Code, he holds a *Public Office’.”(emphasis added)

1z



[33} The Court of Appeal adopted a similar approach in affirming the decision of the High

Court in regard to the public service issue. In paragraphs [38] and [39] of the impugned

fudgment, His Lordship Justice Basnayake (with whom Calanchini P and Bandara IA

concurred) observed as follows:-

“[38] Vanua Development Corporation Limited (VDCL) is considered as the

commercial vehicle for NLTB and as trustee Jor Fijian landowners (Ex-3 VDCL
Memorandum of Association). The paid-up capital of VDCL was $7.7 Million
FID. All these funds belonged to NLTB. VDCL was Jormed by a Resolution of

NLTB. The accused was appointed Chairman of VDCL by a NLTB Resolution on
8 December 2003 ((Ex-9).

[39] The following facts also will show the special public nature of VDCL

distinguishing it from other private companies:

1.

NLTB employees were made VDCL shayehoiders. They held the shares and all
property of VDCL. in trust for NL'TB, and exercised their powers and duties
under NLTB direciion (Ex P 6A, Deed for holding shares in trust
{Supplementary Record pages 1-6). _
NLTB (as opposed to its nominee shareholders) appoinied all diveciors of
FDCL. The original seven directors were NLTB employees. There is no
evidence of the existence of the original seven directors excepting Mr. Bakani
who was one of the seven original directors,

NLTB (as opposed to its nominee shareholders) supplied ol the funds for
VDCL to invest,

NLTB paid the salary of VDCL's Board Secretary (Transcript {pwo Pg. 3364
R/13)).7

[34] After discussing some relevant case law which | do not consider it necessary to repeat here,

His Lordship Justice Basnayake went on to conclude as folfows in paragraph [42] of its

judgment:-

13



“{42] It is abundantly clear that VDCL was a company that is public in nature.
The shareholders were only name sake and without any authority. There is no
evidénce of any shareholders meetings. All the imds of the company belonged to
the State. There is no evidence of distribution ol dividends among sharcholders.
As already mentioned the Chairman and the Directors were appointed by the
State. The public nature of the company I vis."{?fa. on a perusal of the
Memorandum. There Is no dispute with regard 1o the public nature of NLTB
where the accused had been a director. VDCL was a brainchild of NLTR. The
accused was made-the Chairman of VDCL by virtwe of his being a director of
NLTB. In the event of removal from the directorship of NLTB, the accused would
have naturally lost the chairmanship of VDCL too. Therefore the argument that
the accused was not a public officer cannot hold water With that the aceused
hecame  gecomwnable fo fhe public, to the company where he held the
chairmanship, 1o NLTB and the indigenous Fijians with whose trust funds the

company functioned.” (emphasis added)

[35] These findings highlight one important fact that emerges from NLTB Beard Paper No.
03172003 (Exhibit >-9). This paper proposed in paragraph 2.0 thereof, the establishment of
VDCL with immediate effect in view of the urgency of investing the funds of NLTB in

 VDCL “to generate additional revenue for the Board,” This was because “additional
revenue is needed to, among otlier things, finance initiatives the Board wants to undertake

for the benefit of the landowners.” The paper expressed the hope that-

“Also if' well endowed financially NLTB can enjoy greater- autonomy in its
operation. Another objective of VDCL is to properly manage landowners”
investinents in the Trust Fund. Between $9 — 12 million is usually in the Trust

Fund at any time. If managed professionally, earnings on this Fund can increase.”

[36] Paragraph 8.0 of the said paper sought to deal with the shareholding structure and capital of
VDCL. Apart from an anticipated $1,000,000.00 interest free loan from the Government,

14



the remaining estimated initial equity capital of VDCL estimated at $7,694.,463 was 10
consist of NL'TB investments, The said paragraph of the paper also contained the following

proposal:

“Tt is proposed that to start with, NLTB should be the only sharcholder in VDCL.
1f' the proposal to reinvest the saving in poundage is aceepted. the shareholding
can then be opened up to the landowners, Similarly; staff could be considered as

shareholders, not individual but say through a trust.”

[37} I find that the correctness of the distinction drawn by the trial Judge and referred to in
paragraph [31] of this judgment between (i) any person holding any of the following
offices or (il) performing the duty hereof, at the very commencement of the definition of
the phrase “person employed in the public service™ in section 4 of the Penal Code is
confirmed and is in no way contradicted by the word “or” used between elements 1) and
{1} above, and is in conformity with the case law cited by the trial judge in his judgment.
The Courl of Appeal in paragraph [40] of its judgment adverted to the said case law in the

following manner with apparent approval;-

“{40] The learned trial Judge quoted Lord Mansfield in R v Bembridge (1783) 3
Doug 327; 99 ER 679 that “if'a man accepts an affice of truyst and confidence,
concerning the public, especially when it is attended with profit, he is answerable
to the King in u eriminal prosecution, for the King cannot otherwise punish his
misbehaviour, in acting contrary to the duty of his office, and that this holds
equally by whomsaeever or howsoever he s appointed to the office, by whomever
the office is given”. Also Lawrence J in The King v Whituker [1914] 3 KB 1283,
1296 that, “A public officer is an officer who discharges any duty in the discharge
of which the public are interested, more clearly so if he is paid out of a fund
provided by the public. If taxes o to supply his payment and the public 'have an
interest in the duties he discharges, he is a public officer™ (R v Bowden [1996] 1
CrApp R 104, 109, B v Cosford [2013] 2 Cr App R 8).”

i5



[38] The common faw approach that is illustrated by the decisions referred 1o by the Court of

Appeal in its impugned judgment does not seem to insist that the person concerned must be
the holder of an *office’ in a harrow or technical sense. The authorities suggest that it is the
nature of the duties and the level of public trust involved that are relevant, rather than the
manner or nature of appointment. In R v Dytham (1979} 1 QB 723 Lord Widgery CJ talked
of “a public officer who has an obligation to perform a duty™. That is as wide as a court can

go.

[39} Mr. Clarke, took pains to stress that the Fiji Penal Code was a complete code, and should

not be construed in the light of inglish decisions which adopted a wide approach, but as
already noted the interposition of the word “or” between the two. limbs (i) any person
holding any of the following offices or (ii) performing the duty hereof, at the

commencement of the definition of the plrase “person holding public office” in section 4

" of the Penal Code manifests a legistative intent to construe the said phrase in the widest

[40]

possible manner. It is noteworthy that the liberal English common law approach of
construing “public office” in the widest possible sense in applying legislation dealing with
misconduet in or the abuse of public office has been followed in other common law
jurisdictions as well. See, R v Williams (1986) 39 WIR 129; R v Sucks [1943] SALR 413 R
v Boston (1923) 33 CLR 386. A similar approach was followed in Fiji by the Court of
Appeal In Qarase v Fiji Independent Commission Against Carruption [2013] FICA 44;
AAU66.2012 (30 May 2013) and by the Supreme Court in Parel v Fifi Indepenent
Commission Against Corruption |2013] FISC 7, CAY0007 2011 (26 August 2013).

I see no merit in ground (a) urged on behalf of the Petitioner for sceking leave to appeal,

and hold that the Petitioner has failed to satisty any of the criteria set out in section 2 of the

Supreme Court Act in regard to this ground.

The Intent Issue

4]

Ground (b) relied upon by the Petitioner for seeking leave to appeal is that the Court of

Appeal erred in finding that the Petitioner had committed arbitrary acts on the basis that the

16



[42]

[43]

nece'ssary criminal intent was proven by the Petitioner suppressing information regarding
PCX without regard or reference to evidence that such information was disclosed, As
already noted in paragraph [19] of this judgment, Mr. Blanchflower on behalf of the
Respondent has objected to this ground on the basis that though a ground described as
“intent issue™ was taken up by the Petitioner and considered by the Cowrt of Appeal as
ground (b), the matters raised by the Petitioner before this Court under the said ground (b}
are entirely different and had not been considered by the High Court or the Court of
Appeal. It is noteworthy that ground (b) raised in the Court of Appeal was that FICAC did
not prove the necessary criminagl inteni to make his acts arbitrary ax requived by the
offence which focused on the element of arbitrary act without raising any issue about the

alleged suppression of information by the Petitioner to NLTB and VDCL.

The submissions made by Ms. Cole at the hearing of this application in this Court stressed
that the Court of Appeal had concluded that the 14 NLTB board papers apd meetings from
May 6, 2004, to August 24, 2006, had no ‘mention of the meetings about VDCL’s loans to
PCX or the use of a Government grant as secwrity for extension of PCX’s loan with
Dominion Finance and PCX's OD/loan facility with ANZ. Ms. Cole was here making
reference to paragraph [33] of the impugned judgment of the Court of Appeal where it was

discussing the faets relating to count 10,

Ms. Cole submitted that the Court of Appeal based its decision on a misunderstanding of
the evidence, which was the basis of the Petitioner’s appeal. She further submitted that the
2005 Board papers showed that VDCL approved a sharcholder loan of $2.9 million to PCX
at the interest rate of nine per cent. She said information had been provided to the NLTB
Board about a difficulty that PCX was experiencing in the process of obtaining business
from the civil service and the public sector generally. Ms. Cole contended that it was
impossible for the Petitioner fo disclose information that he was unaware of and that the
Court of Appeal erred by not looking at the evidence by itself, adding that it would have

reached a completely different conclusion if it did.
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[44]

[45]

Responding to these submissions, Mr. Blanchflower made his submissions without
prejudice fo his position that the points raised by Ms. Cole were not taken up before the
rial judge and the Court of Appeal in regard to which he relied on the dictum in the
Aminiasi Katonivualiku case discussed in paragraph {20] of this judgment. He submitted
that some of the cvidence of the Petitioner’s failure 1o report to NLTB and VDCL about
PCX and VDCL’s support of PCX, were set out in paragraphs 46, 56, 57, 60, 65, 70, 71,
74, 73, 76, 82. 86[3). 90, 94(3), 95(3), 97, 98, 106(1} and (2) of the Respondent’s
Submissions filed in the Court of Appeal. He contended that the assessors and trial judge
reviewed and evaluated all the evidence, oral and documentary, and drew inferences and
made findings about the Petitioner’s lack of material disclosure 1o NLTB and VDCL. He
submitied that the Petitioner did not inform NLTB of VDCL’s loans to PCX and provision
of security for PCX’s banking facilities, and {he assignment of proceeds under ils
agreement with NLTB, and PCX’s financial problems, dependency on Joans, and its

assignments of proceeds under its agreement with NLTB.

In this context it is important to note that the Petitioner as well as the I Accused Bakani
were in the unique position of wearing 3 hats as directors of NLTB, VDCL and PCX,
While NLTB was clearly a public body incorporated by statute, VDCL was a private

limited liability company floated by NLTB to be its investment arm, and as far as the

Petitioner and Bakani were concerned, there could not have been any conflict of interest in

[46]

the positions they held in NLTB and VDCL. PCX however was a different kettle of fish, as
it was a joint venture company in which VDCL had 51 per centstake but the remaining 49
per vent was held as on 24th March 2004 by TUI Munagement Services Limited (TMSL)
which had 9,899 shares and Mr. Ballu Khan, who had 99 shares {Exhibit 225), and this was
a potential area of conflict of interest which both the Petitioner and Bakani had to guard

against.
It is also significant that the transactions which are the subject matter of counts 2, dand 10

involved frust fands transferred to VDCL for productive investment for the benefit of

NLTB and landowners, and the two transactions relating to counts 6 and 8 were
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[47)

government funds disbursed to VDCL through the intervention of NLTB, which placed the

Petitioner and Bakani in a fiduciary position.

Itis in this background that this Court would consider the reasoning of the Court of Appeal,
which was a clear endorsement of the reasoning of the trial judge, in regard to the state of
mind of the Petitioner as seen from the below quoted paragraphs [48] 10 52} of the

impugned judgment of the Court of Appeal:-

[48] What is the state of mind of the accused? Krowledge of the distressful
financial position of PCX, He is with authority being the Chairman of VDCL, He
thought that he could do anything with the funds that poured into VDCL and act
according to his whims and fancy. That’s how, | think, the acts of the accused
comes within the ambit of Naiveli (supra) that, “whar differentiates something
done in abuse of office in many. cases will be the siate af mind of the accused”.
“The act complained of should be done under colour of bis affice. This would
muan that the acl complained of should be done under colour af his office where

use is made of such office by the accused” (Qarase) (supra),

[49] The question for the learned Judge was to find out whether the accused had
any knowledge Aab()ut the exact financial situation of PCX, “If the existing
cireumstances show either affirmatively or can be inferred through circumstances
that the accused had actual knowledge of the facts or he wilfully shut his eyes to
the obvious truth or did not make queries ither wilfully or recklessty, as expected
from. a honest and reasonable man, it is the obvious conclusion that he had the
“knowledge” of the existing situation.” The learned Judge asked the question why
the accused maintained a “stoic silence” when questions were raised by other
Directors about the financial situation of PCX. It was due to uproper motive,

"The aceused could not have been a stranger o his role as the Chairman of VDCL.

{50) The learned Judge was of the view that the accused must be quite privy to

what existed in PCX compound as he was absent only once out of ten Bourd

19



Meetings of PCX held in 2004 and 2005. Thus while possessing the requisite
knowledge of the negative financial status of PCX, why did he contribute or
facilitate on each and every instances of the charges to achieve what PCX
anticipated. Why did he not state his knewledge about PCX with NLTR or
VDCL. Why did he not break the shackles at least when Mr. Whippy raised his

concerns?

[S1] Being a very high competent businessman for éver decades, how did he fail
to understand that from its very first business deal with NLTB, PCX was running
the show on borrowings through various financial institutions, inchuding VDCL,
without a proper cash flow; Was he mindful that when PCX was expecting
NLTB’s first payment in January 2005 as its only income, its borrowings ran up
close upon $5 Million; Why did he not enlighten VDCL and NLTB that PCX's
original [T scheme is not a success and PCX was moving: towards the 3¢

wireless Mobile Licence " as an alternative way out?

{32] The learned Judge held that it is with all these rational questions that this
court has to decide whethet the acts of the accused to facilitate the financial
transactions in the five counts were rational and business investment orieited
decisions with an honest belief. The learned Judge held that the answer is straight
forward. The accused was acting with an “improper motive” at all material times.
It is that improper mative that amounts to an abuse of authority of his office. His
action clearly demonstrates that he simply acted according to his awn free will or
rather arbitrarily, without honouring his “fiduciary duties” towards VDCL and
NLTB or the objectives and values of those institutes. The results of the actions of
the accused ne doubt has prejudiced the rights of NLTB and indigenous Fijians.
Whatever the money lost, approximately around $5 Million FJID would have been
used Jor the benefit of the concerned parties, had it not been wasied as o result of
the accused's arbitrary acis which amounted to abuse of authority of his office.

{emphasis aidded)
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[48] This is a case where the documentary evidence as well as witness statements and testimony

[49]

on oath were voluminous, and the assessors and trial Jjudge arrived at their decisions after
careful examination and evaluation of the material presented at the trial. The case against
the Petitioner was that he did not provide material, timely, and complete information to
NLTB and the VDCL Board, on such matters as PCYX’s financial problems, its dependency
upon loans, and its assignments of proceeds under the agreement with NLTB, and he had
the opportunity of clarifying matters within his exclusive knowledge by providing his own
testimony, but he chose not to. The trial judge’s summing up, the opinions of the assessors
{which in regard to the aspect of “purpose of gain” had to be varied by the trial judge after
an independent assessment of the evidence) and the judgment of the trial judge were

itnmaculate,

In my opinion, there are three unsurmountable difficulties which the Petitioner has to face
in regard to this ground of appeal. Firstly, the Petitioner raises factual issues which are
properly within the province of a trial court to determine: dminiasi Katonivualiki v The
State (supra). Secondly, he asks this Courl to reevaluate and reweigh evidence, and set
aside concurrent findings of fact of the trial court and Coust of Appeal on the basis of a
ground that was not argued in the same way in the trial court or in the Cowt of Appeal. As

this Court observed in paragraph 36 of its judgment in Dip Chand v State [2012] FISC 6;

CAV0014.2010 (9 May 2012)-

“{36] The Supreme Court has been even more siringent in considering
applications for special leave to appeal on the basis of grounds of appeal not

taken up or argued in the Court of Appeal.”

Of course, the exception to the rulé is a case where substantial and grave injustice might
oceur if the new point is not entertained on appeal, but the point raised by Ms. Cele in all
the ¢ireumstances of this case isrcleatﬁiy not such a matter. Thirdly, the Petitioner seeks to
select pieces of evidence for the Court to review, when the assessors and trial judge

considered all the evidence. They read each document, heard all of the witness's
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[50]

evidence and made findings about their credibility and reliability, drew inferences from

the evidence, and made findings of fact. This Court docs not have that advantage.

For all these reasons, T hold that the Petitioner has failed to satisfy the threshold criteria set
out in section 7(2) of the Supreme Court Act with respect to ground (b) set out in the
Petitioner’s petition of appeal.

The Excessive Sentence Issue

{51}

[54]

Ground (¢} urged by the Petitioner relates to his sentence. The Petitioner contends, as he
has in the Court of Appeal as well, that the sentence against the Petitioner is contrary to
law and is excessive. As already noted in paragraph 13 of this judgment, the sentence
imposed on the Petitioner was an aggregate of 6 years imprisonment on all the 5 counts
with a non-parol period of 5 years imprisonment. The breakdown of the sentence for each
countt of felony is also set out in paragraph [13] of this judgment. The sentences

uitimately handed down on the Petitioner, agaregating to 6 years imprisonment, were as

follows:~

Count 2 - 18 months imprisonment
Count 4 - 18 months imprisonment
Count 6 and 8 ~ 18 months imprisonment
Count 10 - 18 months imprisonment

In the written submissions filed on behalf of the Petitioner, the said ground is further
claborated on the basis that the said sentence (&) does not properly apply to the “totality”
principle; (b} does not properly apply the principles of consecutive and concurrent
sentencing; (¢) the consecutive sentences wrongly treat each offence as meriting the same

punishment; and aceordingly; and (d) the sentence is manifestly excessive.

In the sentencing judgment of the trial judge dated 15™ Augusi 2014. he has taken 12

months imprisonment as the head sentence for each of the counts atthough the five counts
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{551

against the Petitioner attracted a maximum sentence of 3 vears imprisonment for each
count. I is also noteworthy that although there were altogether 5 counts, for purpose of
sentence, the trial judge had imposed consecutive sentences o counts 2, 4 and [0 and
concurrent sentences on counts 6 and 8, and as such on the basis of the head sentence, the
total sentence would have been an aggregate of 4 years of imprisonment. The trial judge

has then considered aggravating and mitigating factors, and adjusted the sentence.

In paragraph 20 and 21 of the sentencing judgment, the trial judue dealt with the

aggravating factors in the following manner:-

“20. I now turn to see the aggravating featares of this instance, Mr. Bakani and
Mr. Dakuidreketi, you both held very high ranking offices in NLTB and VDCL as
far as the 'decision making' process is concerned. You were expected and in fact
empowered to make business decisions and implement the same in the light of the
powers you acquired through the ‘high public offices’ you held. The higher the
‘public office” you hold. the greater the involvement and influence in decision
making. That is one main aggravating factor. Then comes the huge sums of public
monies which were entrusted to your offices to manage and invest for the
betterment of a larger community. Therefore, it is indisputable that the much
anticipated ‘public trust” been eroded, when you abused the authority of your high
public offices. The abuse of your respective offices for a long period of time, 3
years in total in thiy case, is also an aggravating feature as for all this time you
managed 10 conceal your arbitrary acts from the public. Finally, the amount
involved, or rather the loss to public will definitely aggravaie the nature of the
offences. FDCL had spent around 85 million over PCX and got only arowmd
3285,000 in return, without any interests or dividends been received. The loss of
around $§3 million of Public money will have the effect of enhancing your

sentenee,
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[56]

21. For the above stated aggravating factors, Mr. Bakani and M. Dakuidreketi, I
will add 12 months imprisonment fo the starting point of your sentences. The

interim sentences now stand at 24 months imprisonment for each count.”

The trial judge has also considercd the mitigating factors submitted or% behalf of the
Petitioner, These mitigating factors were dealt with ‘in paragraphs 25 and 26 of his
sentence ruling, and included the Petitioner's age, his marital status and the number of
chi!dren_; his educational qualifications and work experience, his business acumen, his
active involvement with the Fiji Rugby Union and other public offices held, the fact that
he is a first offender, the sole bread winner of the family who has also to fund his son’s
education, the delay in prosecuting the case, the potential loss of some of the Petitioner's
business licences and the evidence of his good character. In consideration of all these
mitigating factors, the trial judge reduced 6 months from each of the interim sentences
which amounted to a reduction of the total sentence by 2 years of imprisonment, thereby
reducing each of his interim sentence to 18 months imprisonment which works out to an
aggregate sentence of 6 years imprisonment on a consccutive basis, as noted in paragraph

{31} of this judgment.

[57] The Petitioner has appealed against his sentence to the Court of Appeal. His ground against

sentence was ground (f) in the Court of Appeal, which read as follows: “The sentence is
based upon wrong principies {(cumulative) and is excessive (Excessive Sentence issue),”
One ground referred to in the writien submissions though not in the petition filed by the
Petitioner in this Court, the totality principle was also raised in the Court of Appeal at the

hearing and was considered by that Court.

[58] As the Court of Appeal explained in paragraph 11 of its judgment. in regard to counts 6 and

. &, the sentence imposed was 18 months on each count, which was to run concurrently, and

the sentences imposed on counts- 2, 4 and 10 were to be served consecutively. Thus the
total period of sentence was 6 years with a non-parole period of § years. Section 22 of the
Sentencing & Penalties Act No. 42 of 2009 provides for the imposition of concurrent

sentences unless it is otherwise directed by courts. The section states that every term of
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imprisonment imposed on a person by a court must, unless otherwise directed by the court
be served concurremly. Thus the courts are empowered to impose either concurrent or
consecutive sentences, depending on the circumstances of each case. In paragraph 39 of his
sentence judgemnt dated 15" August 2014, the trial judge has stated that in terms of
section 22 (1), the court has discretion to order conseeutive sentences. The question is

whether that discretion was properly exercised.

The Court of Appea! has examined the question carefully and in paragraph [68] to 72} of
its judgment has observed as follows:-

[68] The learned judge has given consideration 1o the theories involved in the
imposition of consecutive sentences as stated by Pattuk J in Vise Waga v The
State [2003] FTHC 138 (23 September 2003) that, “The power to order sentences
to run concurrently is subject to two major limiting principles, which may be
called the “ope fransaction rude” and the “totality principle ” (Thomas; Principles
of Sentencing 2nd Fd pg. 53). It does not mean that consecutive sentences canmot
be imposed, so long as the overall sentence is not unduly harsh and by the same
token the outcome of the concurrent sentences are not rendered unduly lenient in

view of the aggravating features (Regina v Jokmson, The Times 22 May 1995).

[69] The totality principle 'basiczilly means that when a court passes a sentence
with a number of consecutive sentences, it should review the aggregate or the
totality of the sentences and consider whether the “fofal ™ is just apptopriate when
considering the "offeaces” as a whole. As Jiten Singh J said in Namma v The
State [2002] FHHC 171 (6 September 2002), the application of this prineiple does
not mean that there is judicial conduct offering for “mmudtiple offending” or
encourages offenders to continue offending, after a serious crime, with the
unptession that there is little to lose. It must always be made clear that the more
the number of crimes and the more the gravity of those crimes, the fonger the

senience 1s 1o be recorded.
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[70} The totality principle is that consecutive sentences should not be such as to
result in an aggregate term wholly out of proportion to the gravity of the offences
viewed as a whole (R v Bradley (1979) 2 NZLR 262 at 263). When a Judge is
faced with the task of sentencing for multiple offences, as an initial step he is
required to identify the appropriate sentence for each offence and then as the final
step, to achieve a total sentence appropriate to the overall culpability of the
aceused (HKSAR v Ngai Yiu Ching [2011] 5 HLRD 690, par 13},

{71] Where multiple offences are committed, the object of the sentencing exercise
is 10 impose individual sentences that, so far as possible, accurately reflect the
gravity of each offence, while at the same time resulting in a total sentence which,
so far as possible, accurately reflects the totality of criminality comprised of the
totality of offences. This exercise involves a significant measure of disceretion and
accumulation of individual sentences according to the particular eircumstances of

each case (Nguyen v The Queen (2016) 256 CLR 656, para 64)),

[72] Tt appears that the learned Judge in paragraph 41 of his Sentencing Order
delivered on 15 August 2014 had given serious thought to the counts separately.
He states, thus that “the facilitation had been done in the same manner when
entertaining the financial requirements of PCX. But, apart from VDCL term
deposits in Dominion Finance and ANZ, which were used as securities for PCX
loans, 1 do not see the other three instances, namely, graniing of $ 2 million loan,
$ 900,000.00 loan and $ ! million loan to PCX, stemmed out of the “sume
transaction” or “same incident”. These three instances are distinet transactions
with & considerable amount of time gap. The “mental element” or the “improper
niotive” gathers momentum and inercases in degree, with that passage of time.
This provides the main ingredient for a separate offence. Hence, charges
pertaining to three VDCL loans to PCX will receive consecutive sentences”, The
facts relating to counts 6 and 8 have been treated differently and considered as
forming one transaction, Therefore the submission that the learned Judge simply

assumed that each count merited the same sentence cannot be aceepted. It appears
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that he had well considered each count separately and given reasons for imposing
consecutive sentences in respect of some counts and concurrent sentences on

others,”

[60] In my view, the Court of Appeal has dealt with the question of sentence very
comprehensively and there is no impropriety or misapplication of principles of law, The
principles on which an appeal against sentence lie are firmly established in a series of cases
such as Shyam v State AAU 98 of 2013 (15 January 2015) and Naisua v State [2013] FISC
14, CAV0010.2013 (20 November 2013)) and the questions to ask are whether the
sentencing judge acted on a wrong principle, relied on extraneous or irrelevant matters,
misunderstood the facts or failed to take into account some relevant considers tions. The

irial judge has not fallen into any of these possible errors,

[61] In the present case the Petitioner has {o establish that the errars in sentencing, if any, mest
the threshold necessary for the grant of leave to appeal. The Petitioner has failed to satisly
the Court of Appeal regarding any of the errors set out above in relation to the sentences
imposed on the Petitioner by the trial judge, and the grounds urged by the Petitioner for
secking leave to appeai. on the sentence do not satisfy the criteria set out in section 7(2) of

the Supreme Court Act for the grant of leave to appeal.

Conclusions

{62] For all the above reasons, 1 hold that the Petitioner’s application for leave to appeal has to
be refused, and his application must be dismissed. The impugned judgment of the Court of

Appeal will stand.

Suresh Chandra, J

[63] 1agree with the reasons and conclusions of Marsoof J,
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Buwaneka Aluwihare, J

[64] I have had the advantage of reading the judgment of Marsoof J. in draft, and 1 am in

agreement with his reasons, conclusions and the order.

Oiders of Conrt:

1. The Petitioner s application for Leave to Appeal is refused.
2. The Petittoner s application is dismissed

3. The decision of the Court of Appeal is affirmed.
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